








UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLOXIDA

CASE NO .

IN RE SEALED INDICTM ENT
/

M OTION TO SEAI,

The Special Colmsel, by and through its undersigned Assistant Special Cotmsel, respectfully

requests that the Indictment, judicial sllmmonses, related papelwork, and any restllting order be

SEALED tmtil the initial appearance of the first defendant or tmtil further order of this Court, with

the exceptions noted below.

follows:

In support of this motion, the Special Cotmsel's Office submits as

On Jtme 8, 2023, the Grand Jury retumed an Indictment charjing Donald J. Tnlmp

with 31 cotmts of Willful Retention of National Defense Information, in violation of 18 U.S.C. j

793(e). The Indictment also charges Tnzmp and Waltine Nauta with Conspiracy to Obstruct Justice,

in violation of 18 U.S.C. j 1512(k); Withholding a Docllment or Record, in violation of 18 U.S.C. j

1512(b)(2)(A); Comlptly Concealing a Docllment or Record, in violation of 18 U.S.C. j 1512(c)(1);

Concealing a Document in a Federal Investigation, in violation of 18 U.S.C. j 1519; Scheme to

Conceal, in violation of 18 U.S.C. j 1001(a)(1); and False Statements and Representations, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. j 1001(a)(2).

As alleged in the Indictment, the charges arise f'rom Trtlmp's tmlawful possession and

retention of classified docllments after his term as President of the Urlited States ended, and the

defendants' conspiracy to lzide and conceal that from the FB1 and a federal grandjury.

The Special Counsel's Oflice informed Trump on M ay 19, 2023, and Nauta on M ay

24, 2023, of their status as targets of the Grand Jury's investigation. The Special Cotmsel's Oflice
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has not confirmed to Trump or Nauta the decision to seek an indictment or of the Grand Jury's reblrn

of the lndictment.

The events leading to the lndictment have been the subject of extensive public scnltiny

and media reporting. The Special Colmsel's Oflice anticipates that public disclosme of the
I

Indictment will generate additional public and media interest, wllich may require steps to maintain

public order and sectlrity.

5. The Special Counsel's Office has requested that the Coul't issue a judicial summons

commanding the defendants to appear on Tuesday, June 13, 2023.

The above considerations mitigate in favor of delaying public disclosure of the

Indictment and keeping the case tmder seal tmtil the Trump and/or Nauta's first appearance or further

order of the Cotut See United States v. Edwards, 777 F.2d 644, 648 (1 1th Cir. 1985) (explairling

that reasons other than taking a defendant into custody validly support the sealing of an indictment,

ipcluding Rilwjhere the public interest requires it, or for other sufficient reason' or çfor sotmd reasons

of policy''') (quoting Unitedstates v. Southland, 16Q F.2d 1366, 1379-80 (2d Cir. 1985:.

The smue reasons supporting the sealing of theycase and delaying public disclosm e of

the Indictment tmtil Trump and/or Nauta's flrst appearance or further order of the Court support

authorizhzg the Special Counsel's Ofsce to make limited disclosure of the fact that the Czrand Juz.y

has retllrned an Indictment and that there will be an initial court appearance on Jtme 13, 2023, as

follows:

To attomeys for Tnlmp and Nauta to effectuate service of the judicial
summ onses, m ake arrangements for their court appearmw es and booking,
discuss court procedures and scheduling, and make arrangements for
producing discovery;

To local and federal 1aw enforcement and other government agencies for the
purposes of ensuring public order, witness sectuity, the integrity of thejudicial
proceedings, and other govemment interests, as well as to make logistical
preparations for the defendants' court appearances mzd booldng;

b.
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C. To witnesses
intimidation;

To the Urlited States District Cotlrt of the District of Columbia, tmder seal, in

relation to grandjury and syaled matters in thatjtuisdiction; and

As necessary' to advance the 1aw enforcement and security purposes and
equities set foz'th above.

and their attorneys to protect against harassment alld

d.

A proposed order is aM ched.

oate: &/r/Jz
# #'

Respectfully submitted,

By :

JACK SM ITH
Special Counsel

Jay . ratt
Assis ant Special Cotmsel
Court ID No. A5502946
950 Pennsylvania Avenue NW
Room  8-206
W ashington, D.C. 20530

Case 9:23-cr-80101-AMC   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 06/08/2023   Page 3 of 3



UM TED STATES DISTRICT COIJRT

SMUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

IN RE SEALED INDICTM ENT
/

SEALED ORDER

The Special Cotmsel's Office has applied to this Court for all Order sealing the Indictment,

judicial sllmmonses, related paperwork, and this Order. For good cause shown, as set forth in the

Special Counsel Oo ce's application:

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Indictment, judicial sllmmonses, related papem ork,

and this Order shall be filed under seal tmtil the initial appearance of the first defendant or until further

order of this Court, except that the Special Cotmsel's Office is authorized to make limited disclosure

of the fact that the Grand Jury has retumed an Indictment and that there will be an irlitial court

appearance on Jtme 13, 2023, as follows:

1. To attomeys for Tnlmp and Nauta to effecttzate service of the judicial summonses,
make r angements for their court appearances and booldng, discuss court procedures
and scheduling, and make arrangements for producing discovery;

2. To local and federal 1aw erlforcement and other government agencies for the purposes

of ensuring witness security, the integrity of jhejudicial proceedings, national security, '
and public ordçr, as well as to make logistical preparations for the defendants' court
appearances alzd booking;

3. To witnesses and their attomeys to protect against harassment alzd ilztimidation;

4. To the United States Di8trict Court of the District of Colllmbia, tmder seal, in relation

to g'randjury and sealed matters in thatjmisdiction; and

5. As necessary to advance the 1aw enfoicement and sectlrity purposes' and eqttities set
forth above.

DONE AND ORDERED in chambers at ' , 1 , thi day of Jlme, 2023.

H0N0 LE E W IN G. TORRES
CHIE UNITED STATES G GISTM TE JUDGE
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 

    CASE NO. 23-80101-CR-CANNON/REINHART 

 

IN RE: SEALED INDICTMENT            

___________________________________/    

    

 

MOTION TO UNSEAL 

 

The Special Counsel, by and through the undersigned Assistant Special Counsel, moves to 

unseal the Indictment and docket in this case.  The conditions supporting the Court’s sealing order 

no longer prevail and unsealing the Indictment is in the public interest. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

JACK SMITH 

  SPECIAL COUNSEL  

 

BY: s/Karen E. Gilbert 

      Karen E. Gilbert  

Assistant Special Counsel  

Florida Bar No. 771007 

      950 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 

      Room B-206 

      Washington, D.C. 20530 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 

    CASE NO. 23-80101-CR-CANNON/REINHART 

 

IN RE: SEALED INDICTMENT            

___________________________________/    

    

 

 

ORDER TO UNSEAL 

 

 The Special Counsel, having applied to this Court for an Order unsealing the Indictment 

and the docket in this case, for the reason that conditions supporting the Court’s sealing order no 

longer prevail and unsealing the Indictment is in the public interest, and the Court finding good 

cause: 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Indictment and docket in this case shall be unsealed. 

 DONE AND ORDERED in chambers at Miami, Florida, this 9th day of June 2023. 

 

      _________________________________________ 

      HON. EDWIN G. TORRES 

      CHIEF UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 

23-80101-CR-CANNON/REINHART 

 

 

 

IN RE: SEALED INDICTMENT            

___________________________________/  

   

 

ORDER UNSEALING CASE  

This matter comes before the Court on the Special Counsel’s Motion to Unseal 

that represents that the conditions supporting the Court’s sealing order no longer 

prevail and unsealing the Indictment is in the public interest.  The Court finds good 

cause to vacate the Court’s Order sealing the returned indictment.  The Clerk is 

therefore DIRECTED to unseal the indictment and the action.  

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Miami, Florida this 9th day of June, 

2022. 

      

EDWIN G. TORRES 

United States Magistrate Judge 

 

 

Case 9:23-cr-80101-AMC   Document 7   Entered on FLSD Docket 06/09/2023   Page 1 of 1


